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INTRODUCTION

Why should a reader want to review the record of
Stafford L, Warren as he himself has recorded the high-
lights of his long and distinguished services to education
and research, to his country, and to mankind? Why was
he called upon during World War II to consult with high
military command concerning the effects of atomic bombing?
Why was he chosen to be the founding dean of the UCLA
School of Medicine, and how did he lay the academic and
the physical foundations for what has become one of‘the
great medical centers of the nation? Finally, what
significant contributions to medical education and
research did he make after his UCLA retirement in 19637

Many insights into his long and brilliant career,
and answers to these and other questions, will be found,
we believe, within the three volumes compiled from twenty
tapes that Dr. Warren recorded from March 1966 through
February 1967 in his UCLA oral history intefviews.*

Those who read through any one or all of these
volumes may wonder why I happen to be writing this brief
introduction to such an important record,

I first joined the Southern Branch of the University

of California in 1928 as associate in economics, coming

* An additional twenty-one tapes (see Interview History)
were recorded from February 1967 through February 1968.
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from the University of Pennsylvania, where I was an
instructor in finance in the Wharton School, I remained
at UCLA (except for World War II special assignment in
Washington, D,C,) until retiring from the university

in 1962,

As the war was ending, I returned to witness first-
hand the challenging postwar development of the young
Westwood campus, Enrollments suddenly increased from a'
prewar student body of 6,175 in 1929 to 21,043 in 1964,
New schools and colleges--medicine, law, social welfare,
nursing, dentistry, fine arts, business administration,
and others--as well as new programs and institutes were
being planned, New buildings, equipment, libraries,
and research facilities had to be financed, new faculties had
to be recruited, new curricﬁla and standards were being
set, new student housing had to be provided, and a new
chief campus officer had to be installed. For the first
time in UCLA history, new authorizations were to be given
to Clarence A. Dykstra as he left the presidency of the
University of Wisconsin in 1945 to become a University
of California vice-president and the provost of UCLA.

Thus were born the "Golden Years" of UCLA's growth and
development, years that were to stretch from 1945-46 into
the 1960s and beyond, I was privileged to play an early

part in that challenging development.



During the Great Depression years of the 1930s
(1934-39), I directed a comprehensive research study on

the Economic Aspects of Medical Services in California,

As a result of this study, my interest in medical and
dental school training and medical practice had been
sharpened, So one of my first priorities was to help in
the organization and location of a new school of medicine
and in the choice of its founding dean, With the expert
help of Elmer Belt, M,D,, distinguished Los Angelés
urologist and a fellow medical school student of Stafford
Warren at the University of California School of Medicine,
together with the Dean of the UCLA Graduate Division
Vern O, Knudsen, final épproval of President Sproul and
the regents was gained, and Stafford L, Warren was appointed
in 1947 as founding dean,

Dr; Warren proved to be The Man, the perfect choice.
The accompanying volumes of his recordings clearly reveal
what kind of man he was. But in perusing these volumes,
the reader will soon notice that his activities have
frequently encompassed a wide range of events, though these
events are not presented in chronological order,

For instance, Tape I, Side One starts with "Personal
effort to gain Veterans Administration participation in
Medical education--UCLA medical school's association with

local VA hospitals," Tape VII, Side Two covers such



subjects as "Experimental works in X-ray treatment of
cancer"; Tape X, Side Two reports "Japaneée reaétions
to atomic bombings"; Tape inI, Side Two discusses
"University procurement problems"; and Tape XVII, Side
Two sets forth Dean Warren's impressions of recruiting
efforts to bring him to UCLA, selection of the site for
the medical center, and the appointment of its faculty.
The objective in this introduction is only to portray
some feeling for and understanding of Dr. Warren as
The Man--a great humanitarian, scholar, colleague, dreamer,
builder, and leader, He was what many (certainly I) have
considered him to be: ihe perfect choice to serve as the
founding dean of UCLA's medical center, Thus, this
introduction is brief and attempts to present only a

skeleton outline of the man,

Birth and Family. Stafford Leak Warren was born in Maxwell,

New Mexico, on June 19, 1896, the older son of Edwin S.
and Clara A, (Leak) Warren, Little has been published

of his early childhood and schooling, but later, in May
1920, he married Viola L, Lockhart, who became his loyal
partner and critic throughout the years until her death,
Some of these years were dark and worrisome war years,
years during which she and their three children, Jane,
Deén, and Roger, waited anxiously while husband and father

traveled secretly on highly classified missions to far-off
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places, The family did not know where he went nor for
what purpose until after the war ended,

Mrs, Dodd and I learned to know the Warren family
well during their yéars after coming to UCLA, Later
we realized that Vi's life would probably be shortened
because of failing health, It ended in July of 1968,
soon after which we attended a sad but beautiful memorial
service for her in Westwood.

Later Staff talked quietly to me about his loneliﬁess
during the months following Vi's death, His deep sorrow began
to lessen and his hopes brightened into full bloom again
when an old friend and medical colleague, Gertrude J,
Huberty, M,D,, (whose husband, Professor Martin Huberty,
had passed away several years earlier) announced their
marriage on July 18, 1970,

With Gertrude's loving companionship and encouragement,
life for Staff took on new meaning, and soon he renewed
fundamental research in the cause of rheumatoid arthritis
and other activities at UCLA and elsewhere, Later, in
June 1981, my wife and I traveled to UCLA, where we
attended a small and intimate birthday party at the home
of Mrs, Louis B, Slichter to celebrate Staff's eighty-
fifth birthday along with Gertrude and three other guests,
He was in good spirits, though somewhat quieter than

usual, Five weeks later we received a phone call saying
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that the day before (July 26, 1981), after he and Gertrude
had returned from their mountain retreat, Staff told
Gertrude that he felt a bit weary and would have a nap
instead of eating lunch,

He never awakened from that sleep; he had departed,
But the story of his life had been tape recorded for what
was to be his oral history, On the fourth of October,
1981, we returned to UCLA to attend, with Staff's and
Gertrude's families and with countless friends and
colleagues, another beautiful service, This one was held
in the entrance patio of the medical center, which is a

living testimony to The Man, the founding dean,

Education. Dr, Warren received a B.A. degree in 1918
from the Berkeley campus of the University of California
and both a master's degree and his M,D., degree from the
university's medical school in 1922, Many stories have
been told about how Staff and his close friend, Elmer
Belt, as premed and medical students at the university
were seen spinning together over the streets of Berkeley
and San Francisco on their motorcycles, This close
association, in and out of classrooms and laboratories,
continued throughout the years at the university's Hooper
Foundation and later at Harvard and the Massachusetts General
Hospital, finally reaching a peak at UCLA until broken

by the death of Elmer during the 1970s,
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Following Staff's studies at the University of Califor- .
nia, he did postgraduate work at Johns Hopkins (1922-23)
and at Harvard (1923-25). (He also received three
honorary degrees: D,Sc, degrees from the universities of
Rochester and Redlands and an LL.D, from his alma mater,)
His medical internship was completed in Boston,

A special award came late in life to Dr, Warren., In
1972, soon after his happy second marriage to Gertrude,
he received the 1971 Enrico Fermi Award of the Atomic
Energy Commission in recognition of his many contributions
to radiation safety and research. This prestigious award,
presented also to Dr, Shields Warren (unrelated) in a
double ceremony at the AEC's Germantown, Maryland,
headquarters on May 18th was

For the imaginative, prescient, and vigorous

efforts of Dr, Shields Warren and of Dr, Stafford

Warren, independent yet coordinated, which

made possible the early development of atomic

energy so as to assure the protection of man

and the environment, and for the establishment

of a biomedical research program which has

resulted in many substantial applications of

ionizing radiation to diagnosis and treatment

of disease and to the general welfare,
Earlier, on November 26, 1945, shortly after the end of
World War II, Stafford L, Warren, Colonel, U,S. Army, had
received another prestigious award, the Distinguished
Service Medal from the War Department. The presentation

citation read:

For:s As Chief of the Medical Section, Manhattan



Engineer District, from November, 1943, to
August, 1945, he performed exceptionally
meritorious and distinguished service in
connection with the development of the
Atom Bomb, He was charged with the grave
responsibility of safeguarding and main-
taining at a high level the health and
welfare of all personnel engaged in a

new field of endeavor, His inspiring
leadership, initiative and resourcefulness,
his farsighted vision and perseverance,
his professional knowledge and skill,

and his unswerving devotion to his task
contributed significantly to the attain-
ment of successful results,

Stafford L, Warren--The Man. Staff began his academic

teaching in the field of radiology under Dean George
H. Whipple at the new University of Rochester School
of Medicine and Dentistry in 1926. He remained at
Rochester until 1946, though World War II found him
urgently needed for important assignments for his
country, Thus, in 1943 he entered military service as
a colonel (Tape VIII, Side One) in the U,S, Medical
Corps, He soon was appointed chief of the Medical
Section, Manhattan Engineer District (Tape VIII, Side
One) and advisor to the commanding general, Manhattan
Project, 1943-46, Later he assisted in the organization
of the Atomic Energy Commission (Tape XVII, Side One),

of which John Von Neumann was an early appointee,*

* YVon Neumann had accepted appointment as university

professor at UCLA in the mid-'50s, but shortly before he
planned to join the university staff he was stricken with
cancer and died in Bethesda Hospital in Washington, D.C,
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The war years required intensive service from Dr,
Warren: living day to day without preschedule,
rushing secretly from place to place, across the country,
the Atlantic, and elsewhere, away from home and family.
As chief of all safety radiation activities in a new world
of atomic energy, his wartime military service to the nation
could not have been met by more than a few, perhaps by none,
with greater dedication and devotion than Staff gave,

Readers of these volumes will soon find that most
of the following thirteen hundred pages report Staff's
impressive contributions to radiation safety, both during
the war and following the Hiroshima blast, which brought
World War II to a quick world peace in 1945,

But peace in 1945 did not lessen his national
responsibilities nor his contributions. In 1945-46 he
was appointed chief of the Radiological Safety Section,
Joint Task Force One, which organized and carried out the
Bikini Test Project, Again his responsibilities were for
radiation safety, From 1947 to 1948 he served as
director of the Atomic Energy Project. Other peacetime
public services included serving as chairman, Civil
Defense Planning Board of California, 1949-53; special
assistant to the president on the mental retardation
program, 1962-65; member of the National Advisory Council

of the U,S. Public Health Service, 1962-65; and member of
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the Facilities and Resources Committee of the National
Library of Medicine, 1962-65,

To all of those then within the University of
California, however, (including President of the Board
of Regents Governor Earl Warren, Chairman of the Board
Edward A, Dickson, President of the University Robert
Gordon Sproul, UCLA Provost Clarence A, Dykstra, and
UCLA Dean of the Graduate Division Vern O, Knudsen),
Staff's most valuable postwar contribution came from
his acceptance of the appointment as founding dean of
the medical school, which resulted in the establishment
of the great UCLA medical center of today.

Dean Warren's acceptande of this assignment did not
come easily. As the war ended, other opportunities opened
up to him, Also, there were questions raised within
the Board of Regents, One prominent ‘member of the board
had his special candidate, Moreover, there were other
political pressures and financial problems,

What funds were required from the state legislature to
start the medical school--to see it completed, and when?
Would private funds be forthcoming, and if so, how? What
about federal support? Where should the medical school be
located? Should it be near the Presbyterian Hospital in
Hollywood, in East Los Angeles, adjacent to the county
hospital, on campus, closely integrated with the basic

sciences and humanities? Would more campus land be
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available to allow for full development of a great medical
center without crowding out other badly needed campus
growth? Would faculty members and others back the campus
location of the new school?

Staff Warreh was a dreamer and a builder; he was a
man of action, Some of his associates and colleagues have
critized him--even severely--for being too much of a
"builder," too much of a "one man" man of action, I
have not found him so, I served with him and others on
the advisory board of the medical school for several years
after he came to campus, With Dean Knudseh, Staff and I
worked together for over two years as the Administrative
Committee of Deans, serving in the place of a campus
chancellor after the sudden death of Provost Dykstra in
May 1950, until Raymond Allen was appointed the first UCLA
chancellor and took office late 1952, |

I saw Staff in operation under every type of stress
and strain, He knew how to dream and plan, to listen,
and then to go forward enthusiastically, With his wooden
block "models" of the buildings needed for the "step-by-
step" development of the new school, he patiently, but
persistently listened to suggestions and criticisms
and answered questions until he had won over most of his
critics and adversaries, Then he went forward--even to

the regents and the state legislature--with proposals for
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development of faculty, curricula, and facilities,

When confronted with budgetary cuts, such as he was
when the UCLA per-medical-student costs far exceeded those
of the university's San Francisco medical school, he
ylelded by agreeing to cut costs, in part by increasing
the size of the first-year class of entering students,

He soon learned the difference between securing urgent
wartime procurement funds from the United States during
time of war and obtaining faculties and facilities in the
development of a new postwar medical school at UCLA, even
during the early "Golden Years" of campus growth,

In starting to recruit a distinguished medical
faculty, Staff wisely went, I think, first to the place and
faculty that he knew best: to the University of Rochester,
After independent campus faculty investigation, he chose
three of the four founding faculty colleagues: Andrew
Dowdy in radiology, Charles Carpenter in infectious
diseases, and John Lawrence in medicine, Later, the fourth
of Staff's founding medical colleagues, William Longmire,
Jr,, was chosen from Johns Hopkins; where he was known as
"professor of difficult surgery," These four outstanding
professors, chosen by Dean Warren after endorsement of
independent faculty members and administrators, became, with
their new dean, the cornerstone on which UCLA's medical

school was to be built, One, Professor Longmire, still
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gives full and distinguished service there,

Provost Dykstra's.sudden death in the spring of
1950 left a void in UCLA's official campus leadership
until Chancellor Allen's arrival late in 1952, but this
void did not retard Staff's preress as founding dean,

Tn 1962 Staff resigned this deanship, but at
Chancellor Franklin Murphy's insistence, he continued in
full-time service at UCLA as vice chancellor of health
sciences, Then, in July 1963, he retired as professor of
biophysics emeritus but continued activities in his research
office in Warren Hall and rendered other public services
until his death some five weeks after his eighty-fifth
birthday party.

Thus ended the extraordinary career of Stafford Leak
Warren, He had served his country loyally during many
of the dark months of World War II. He had compiled a
distinguished academic and research record, His colleagues,
students, and friends at UCLA and across the nation had
lost a warm and understanding leader, His family had lost
husband and father, And UCLA had lost its founding dean,
The Man for the challenging assignment well done., One of
the great medical centers of the world stands today as a
tribute to his vision and effort,

To know The Man, to see him as he was, he must be seen
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through his works, Read of them, and learn to know and

understand him fully,

--Paul Dodd
March 1983



INTERVIEW HISTORY

INTERVIEWER: Adelaide Tusler, interview-editor, Oral
History Program, B.A,, Music, UCLA; M.L.S., UCLA,

TIME AND SETTING OF INTERVIEW:
Place: Warren's office, UCLA Rehabilitation Center.

Dates: March 24, 31, April 14, 21, 29, May 5, 12,
19, June 2, 16, 23, 30, July 14, 21, 28, August 4,
25, September 1, 8, 15, 22, October 5, 13, 20, 27,
November 3, 10, 17, December 8, 1966; January 27,
February 2, 6, 1967, Tusler conducted an addi-
tional series of interviews (Tapes XXI-XLI) with
Warren between February 16, 1967, and February

15, 1968; its purpose was to record his comments

on the UCLA medical school files, folder by folder.

Time of day, length of sessions, and total number

of recording hours: Most sessions were recorded
during the morning and yielded one hour of recording,
but there were several sessions in which two hours
were produced, Approximately thirty-eight hours

of conversation were recorded in this series.

Persons present during interview: Warren and Tusler,
except on September 1, 1966 (Tape XIII) when retired
Colonel Stanley Stewart joined them to discuss his

procurement role for the Manhattan Engineer District.

CONDUCT OF INTERVIEW:

In early 1966 Adelaide Tusler wrote to Stafford
Warren at the suggestion of program director James
V. Mink, inviting him to be interviewed as a person
prominent in medicine and university history. Mink
had assigned Tusler to conduct the interview, Then
current program policy was that all interviews

were conducted by staff, with some attempt to match
interviewer expertise and knowledge with that of
the interviewee, But with Warren's vast range of
involvements and interests the assignment was a
formidable one,

Consulting biographical sources, Tusler assembled a

chronology of the major events and tenures of his
life and career, She read Lansing Lamont's
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Day of Trinity for a better understanding of the
Manhattan Project years,

Instead of beginning chronologically with a summary
of Warren's early life, the interview began with
Warren discussing a recent trip to Washington, D.C.,
and his efforts at promoting legislation that would
involve the Veterans Administration in medical
education, He then shifted to a discussion of his
appointment by President John F, Kennedy as special
assistant to implement his mental retardation
program, So, it was not until Tape III, Side Two,
that the interview proceeded in a chronological
fashion, '

Before each session Tusler and Warren would determine
the breadth of material to be covered in that day's
taping, But the orderly flow of recollections was
frequently interrupted by Warren with enthusiastic
reports on the progress of legislation or other pet
projects or with discussions sparked by conferences
and site visits from which he had just returned,
Tusler therefore functioned more as a guide than an
interrogator, attempting to keep the interview on
track,

EDITING:

Editing was done by Winston Wutkee, assistant editor,
Oral History Program, He checked the verbatim tran-
script prepared by staff typist Cathy Adams, editing
for punctuation, paragraphing, and correct spelling,
Words and phrases inserted by the editor were
bracketed, The editing was completed in July 1970,
at which time Warren took only transcripts from the
early interviews for his review, The bulk of the
edited manuscript remained in the program office
until 1975.

Wutkee had done a rather perfunctory verification of
proper names, leaving that responsibility to Warren,
not realizing that he had a known problem of getting
names straight, Gertrude Huberty Warren (whom he
had married after the death of his first wife, Viola)
assisted him in this burdensome task., Throughout

his recollections Warren had made innumerable passing
references to persons, associations, institutions,
and governmental organizations, Unfortunately in

his review he often failed to supply full and correct
titles and spellings.
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Reviewed transcripts began filtering back out of
sequence to the program in May 1977, with delivery
of transcripts continuing throughout 1977 and

into 1978, A review-edit of the first part was done
by senior editor Joel Gardner and given to a
manuscript typist for preparation, That section
(pp. 1-409) was then proofread, and it was at

this point that major unresolved editorial

problems surfaced, These included inconsistent
stylistic treatment (i.e,, capitalization of names
and titles, use of numbers), inconsistent or some-
times incorrect names supplied by Warren, and
frequently misspelled medical and technical terms,
Errors and inconsistencies existed in such number
that it was decided to stop final processing and do
a complete reverification of all proper nouns in the
text,

To accomplish this undertaking, senior editor Bernard
Galm searched the personal papers and medical school
files that Warren had deposited in the University
Archives, This became a difficult and time-consuming
assignment because the collection was unprocessed and
only a brief listing of the collection's immense
contents existed, It required patient tenacity and
considerable detective work to locate names and ascer-
tain exact references made by Warren, Galm was often
stymied, though briefly, by variations of the same
name supplied by Warren, Sadly, Warren died in
summer 1981 before he had an opportunity to review
the final list of unverified names or to see the
completion of his oral history. Gertrude Warren
helped by directing Galm to individuals both within
and ocutside the university who she thought might
supply information.

Early on Stafford Warren established a fund for the
processing of his oral history and over the years the
Warrens made gifts to the fund, The UCLA School of
Medicine also contributed $1,000 toward processing
costs, But these monies were quickly expended on the
enormous cost of this longest of all oral histories
done by the program, The edit-review and final
typing were therefore often halted temporarily for
lack of funds, The final push toward completion

came with the start of fiscal year 1983,

Staff member Julianna Jenkins typed the bulk of the
final manuscript and made the endless corrections
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necessitated by the reworking of the text, The
index and table of contents were prepared by Galm.
Close friend and UCLA colleague Paul Dodd wrote the
introduction, Principal editor Mitch Tuchman rode
herd on the whole operation,

Photographs of Stafford Warren in these volumes
were selected from a group supplied by Gertrude
Warren and from the Warren collection,

Note: The final transcript remains in the same
order as the original taped material, There is no
Tape V, Side Two, or Tape XIV, Side One (see
Supporting Documents) .

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS:

The original audio tapes and edited transcript of

the interview are in the University Archives and

are available under the regulations governing the

use of permanent, noncurrent records of the univer-
sity. Interview records and biographical clippings
are on file in the office of the Oral History Program.

After Warren's death in 1981, the UCLA Library

received his remaining files and papers, These
included much material on the Manhattan Engineer
District and Operation CROSSROADS, plus personal
research notes, The Stafford Warren papers (Collection
987) now consists of 272 boxes and 13 oversize
packages; access is available to scholars in the
Department of Special Collections.

The transcript of an interview with Viola Lockhart
Warren (Warren audio Tape XIV, Side One) has also
been deposited in University Archives, Tusler
conducted the interview on September 8, 1966, in the
Warren home, and in this one-~hour session Mrs, Warren
gave her observations of life at Oak Ridge.
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TAPE NUMBER: I, SIDE ONE

MARCH 24, 1966

TUSLER: Dr. Warren, instead of starting today with the
biographical background, I understand you've just returned
from a trip from Washington with rather interesting results;
so why don't we start out talking about that. Tell me some-
thing about that.

WARREN: All right. Yesterday was the culmination of a
long effort on my part to establish the authority of the
Veterans Administration to participate in medical education
with cooperating educational institutions, chiefly medical
schools, around the country. They already héve been sup-
porting medical education, but in effect, this was being
bootlegged.

This effort goes back to 1947 and 1948, when General
[Omar] Bradley, who was the administrator of the Veterans
Administration; General [Paul] Hawley, the medical direc-
tor; and Dr. Paul Magnuson, his deputy, issued what was

called Memorandum Number Two. This was a letter of intent,

directing and authorizing the local managers of veterans
facilities to undertake a training program for doctors
returning from World War II who had not had their residen-
cies. This was part of the GI Bill. But since the VA did
not have any educational staff, arrangements were agreed

upon that the nearby medical schools would provide the



supervision and the staff. Deans' committees were set up
with the dean and the faculty and the Veterans Administra-
tion's local staff. The men were chosen to head the various
departments of the veterans hospital, were scrutinized and
appointed by this committee, and in turn given appointments
on the medical school faculty.

I had a great deal of trouble in getting these appoint-
ments regularized while setting up the UCLA medical school.
We derived great benefits from our association with the
Veterans Administration, particularly that facility under
the command of Dr. [Ernest V.] Edwards of the VA Birmingham
Hospital in the San Fernando Valley. He offered us re-
search laboratories and staff assistance in what was then
the Birmingham VA Hospital which we could not obtain on
our own budget. UCLA had no facilities at this time where
we could set up our research and our new people.

TUSLER: This was right after the war?

WARREN: This was in 1947 and 1948. Shortly after that,
the Birmingham Hospital was closed and moved to Long

Beach. We then continued our association there. Our
association was fostered by the great energy and imagi-
nation of Dr. Edwards, who violated lots of VA old-time
rules. Since he was first assigned to space in temporary
buildings, and then later in a revamped navy hospital, he
had space that he could utilize for research while Sawtelle

did not. Sawtelle was essentially an old-line veterans



facility, overcrowded and understaffed. It has taken
almost twenty years to get it up to its present level.
Over the years, this relationship had not always
worked very satisfactorily. The Bureau of the Budget
would recall funds, the so-called unexpended funds by
the agencies, about the first of March or April. 1In the
Veterans Administration, since the stipends paid to con-
sulting and attending men were not under contract, they
were, in a sense, vulnerable funds. So there could
develop the unhappy situation in various places around
the country where the attending men's stipends would be
cut off for the last three months of the year. 1In
anticipation of this happening, I would go to Washington
in February and essentially pound on the table; [laughter]
thus we prevented this from happening to us very often.
In those institutions that did not go to Washington
and pound on the table, there were quite serious cuts.
This was bad for the consultants, because these were prac-
ticing doctors who came into the clinics and wards of the
Veterans Administration, five mornings a week, sometimes
more often, sometimes every day, to supervise the care of
the veterans. Actually, the stipend didn't mean much to
them financially. It was several thousand dollars a year,
but it did reimburse them for the cost of their office
while they were absent. This was an important factor.

They would have to rearfange their patient appointments



for almost a whole year ahead to get this block of time to
be away. Then when they were cut off, they were quite
justifiably angry, and about the second time this happened,
the VA lost their services. So you had not only the morale
problem, but you had the loss of professional talent through-
out the system. The medical schools could replace this
talent to some extent, but there was a limit to that, too.
You could see great unhappiness with the relationship
developing in the Association of American Medical Colleges.
This is the deans' organization, which had been working

for some time to get this arrangement changed.

Last year, while I was still a special assistant to
the president, I had great opportunity to talk with con-
gressmen and senators. I got well acquainted with
Congressman Olin Teague,"Tiger" Teague from Texas, [laughter]
who is chairman of the Veterans Appropriation Committee in
the House. Mr. Teague had just conducted a study on the
construction in the Veterans Administration centers of
education and research facilities. I had the opportunity
to point out to him that he was condoning something that
was illegal, namely, the educational aspects of his pro-
posed construction, and that I had a proposal. I had
written a small paper on the small medical school as a
quicker source to develop medical manpower. I had found
thirty places in the country where there were VAs in

towns of 100,000, with about 400 acute hospital beds,



with a small college, and with community support. I pointed
out that one of these was in Amarillo, Texas. It was not

in his district, but this was all right; there are only two
senators from Texas and just a few representatives.

Mr. Teague immediately put in the bill, which incor-
porated the ideas we had talked about. Unfortunately, I
suggested that they put in a cost-plus, fixed-fee arrange-
ment, like that which industry had with the federal govern-
ment. (Whenever the federal government builds something
for the space or defense industry, there is a five-year
amortization, with a fixed fee for the work done, and so
on.) Unfortunately, starting during the war, universities
wanted to make their contribution to the war effort, so at
first they did research without any attention being paid
to the cost to the institutions. This was to be their
contribution. But later they began to suffer from this
and an overhead--at first of 15 percent, and then 20
percent--was established. This supposedly represented
the fixed cost and the hidden cost which the universities
had when they accepted a research contract. Now, this was
never quite enough and was quite a drain on the budget of
the university. The government contracts or grants for
research contributed as high as 50 percent of the operating
funds of many universities, and certainly represented the
main research support of most of the medical schools. So

a fixed-fee arrangement, which was negotiable, would be a



much better arrangement. There were precedents within the
government for this. The Atomic Energy Commission had this
kind of a contract with us and with others.

This turned out to be a hot potato, and later on in
the year, last fall, Mr. Teague came up with another bill.
That bill, which I just described, was HR-9069, but the
final bill which he wrote was HR-11631. This bill was very
simple; it just stated the fact that in order to more effec-
tively carry out the functions imposed upon the Department
of Medicine and Surgery, the VA administrator shall carry
out a program of training and education of health service
personnel in cooperation with schools and educational
institutions. Then it established an advisory committee.
That's very simple, but it's comprehensive and sweeping.
This went through the House a couple of weeks ago without
a dissent, which means a unanimous vote, and then was
referred to the Senate, where it fell to Senator Ralph
Yarborough's Subcommittee on Labor, Health, and Public
Welfare. Senator Yarborough's subcommittee is a committee
of the big committee, so I got acquainted right away with
his staff man, Mr. Alan Mandel, and his legislative staff
man, Mr. Cooper. Last week, when I was there, we had a
long discussion on the chances of this bill or something
like it getting through.

In the meantime, Senator Yarborough, with Senator

Mike Mansfield's assistant, had created another bill which



was called the "Yarborough Bill" by Senator Mansfield and
the "Mansfield Bill" by Senator Yarborough. [laughter]
This was really a special bill providing for the post-
graduate education of doctors and nurses, all the other
health personnel. It would link outlying veterans
facilities with the more sophisticated ones in metropolitan
areas, and set up television, radio, and seminar programs.
Now, this is a very valuable and desirable thing, of céurse.
This was, in effect, an offshoot of Senator Mansfield's
vigorous attack on the Veterans Administration early this
spring when they attempted to close a group of outlying
veterans hospitals and old soldiers homes.
TUSLER: Why did they attempt to do that?
WARREN: Well, I can give you the hearings. [laughter]
They were inefficient. Take Miles City [Montanal]. It's
a ninety-six-bed, nice little hospital. Miles City has
only about 11,000 people. There aren't very many veterans
in the area, but the hospital serves a very important role
in taking care of the veterans. Otherwise, the veterans
would have to go to Salt Lake City or Omaha, five or six
hundred miles away. Particularly at a time like now, when
they've got fourteen inches of snow and a real blizzard,
it would be a very difficult problem.

The senators and congressmen from the areas affected
were very angry, and, of course, the administration had to

back up. There were lots of hearings; which are in this



April 1965 report. Well, now, this means that all of those
congressmen and senators who were involved in that rebuttal
are behind the improvement in the veterans services and are
very much interested in this educational and postgraduate
training move. Mr. Mandel, the staff man of Senator
Yarborough, was convinced that they had adequate support
to get something like this Teague Bill and other things
through the Senate. It's interesting that they didn't want
to bring up a new bill, because it would have to be fought
from the beginning on its merits, but they wanted to take
the Teague Bill as passed without dissent in the House and
refer it to their committee for study and recommendations.

Last week, Mr. Mandel, Mr. Cooper, and Dr. Joseph Meyer,
from the Veterans Administration's legislative and political
branch, sat in Mr. Mandel's office and worked on the agenda.
It's just as simple as that. This is a democratic process,
although it is also subject to abuse by lobbyists. (I have
to admit that I'm a lobbyist.) [laughter] Although I was
a consultant to the VA, yesterday I testified as an individual.
This plan was agreed to by the staff and by Mr. Mandel, who
was preparing the agenda--Senator Yarborough's hearing. The
hearings then occurred a week later and yesterday.

Certain amendments were recommended for the Teague
Bill, but the procedure would be to present the Teague Bill
to the committee in executive session after the hearings to

make certain amendments to clarify its language. The



Yarborough Bill would be added as an amendment because it
provided for an extension of education, and theﬁ maybe to
clarify other things that were needed and requested by the
Veterans Administration administrative officers. 1In that
way, they would have a single bill that would have a great
chance of passage without having to create anything new.
Then it would go out as the Veterans Administration Bill
with Teague and Yarborough Amendments of 1966. That's the
way it would be called, or something like that. They would
have a Public Law [beginning with] 66.
TUSLER: Senator Yarborough didn't oppose anything that was
in the Teague Bill? It was just a question of adding to it?
WARREN: Yes, that's right. This is probably a mean little
thing to say, but it really isn't. When you come right down
to it, they all admit it. Each representative in Congress
hopes to find a little arbeit that he can call his own and
by which he will get known. He would like to get a bill or
two passed with his name on it. Then he can go home and he
can say, "Look, boys, I represented you and I got thus and
so. And this will mean so-and-so to us here at home." Now,
this fits very well. Mr. Teague is on the House side, and
now Mr. Yarborough can pick the bill up, and by coloring it
a bit, he can not only get his name in, but he can also get
it passed.

Yesterday I saw this working. I went into Senator

Yarborough's office Tuesday, the day before, and we



reaffirmed the agreements that had been reached the previous
week on the agenda. I called on Mr. Mike Mansfield, and
since technique was interesting, I will describe it a little
bit in detail. It shows the technique that works. I have
found out how to use it. I knew it instinctively, anyway,
because it works in California.

I phoned Senator Mansfield's office, saying I was
consultant to the Veterans Administration and would like
to talk to Mr. Mansfield about the Mansfield-Yarborough
Bill. His secretary, after a little consultation, I sup-
pose, with the senator, said, "Fine, come at one o'clock."
Well, I had a date with another fellow at one-thirty, but
it was in the Senate cafeteria, so I said, "Fine, I'll be
right over." It was now twelve. So I hopped in a cab and
went over there and got into his office about twenty minutes
to one. It was early, so I sat there. She said, "You're
early." And I said, "Yes, but I have nothing at the moment,
and I don't want to miss the senator, so I'll sit right
here." She said, "Fine, there's a bunch of books you can
look at. I'm sorry to tell you that the senator, in the .~
meantime, had made another appointment before I checked with
him, and he won't be able to see you until one-fifteen." I
said, "That's all right." Not more than two or three
minutes had elapsed when the door opened to the inner
office, and out comes Senator Mansfield with a pile of

newspapers in his hand. He'd been reading the morning
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editorials to see what the public pulse was like. He looked
at me, came over by me, put the papers on the desk, and
stood there. And he said, "I'm not supposed to see you until
one-fifteen. You're early." I said, "Yes, sir, I'm

going to wait." And he said, "Come on in." So I went in.
TUSLER: Had you ever met him before?

WARREN: Yes, I met him about a year and a half earlier on
some mental retardation things. It shows you the flypaper
memory these men have for people and names.

TUSLER: He recognized you?

WARREN: Oh, yes, right away. I said, "I'm an individual.
I've been working for the Veterans Administration on this
education bill. I've been a dean, as you may recall."
"oh, yes," he said, "you're from Los Angeles." I don't
know how much he actually remembered, but he made a good
case. I said, "I want to know whether you will help sup-
port this educational effort of the VA or whether you're
going to be neutral or whether you're going to be against
it because I've heard enough about you to know you'll tell
me yes or no." And he said, "Oh, yes, have you checked
with Mr. Yarborough?" I said, "Yes, I've been working
with their staff people on this." And he said, "Well,

you continue to check with Mr. Yarborough. I will see
that things go as well as they can." So I said, "Fine,
that's all I need to know and that's all I want to say."

And in less than five minutes I got up and went out.
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TUSLER: That's all there was to it.
WARREN: That's all there was to it. He followed me out
to his luncheon engagement, which I would have had to wait
through if I hadn't been there early. I said, "I am sorry,
Senator, I cannot do anything for Miles City and a small
medical school. The population is too small. 1It's only
11,000." (That's the one that he was worried about.) And
he looked at me with a big grin and said he guessed that
he would have to be satisfied if they just kept it open.
And I said, "Yes, it's a very important link in your chain
of cities, and it's worth keeping open, even though it
might cost a little more per bed than some others." He
said, "I'm glad to hear that." [laughter] And I said,
"Well, I owe you a favor. If it gets in trouble, I'll try
and help keep it out of trouble." He thanked me for that
and went on. I can go back, you see, anytime on this. I
could go back on other things, too, but I've got an opening.
He's got a reputation of remembering everything. You have
to be careful because he's like Earl Warren: three years
later he can continue the conversation just where it left
off three years before. But that's fine, because then you
don't have to keep building up the background, and you can
do these things quickly.

I went back and told Mr. Mandel that Mr. Mansfield was
going to be in the group, and that was fine because he was

the man that conducts the agenda and was the big wheel
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in the party. I didn't have time to go to see Senator
Thomas Kuchel; but after hearing Mr. [Paul] Fannin's re-
buttal from the opposition I don't think there's going to
be any Republican opposition.

Yesterday, the hearing was opened in the absence of
the rest of the committee. This is conventional because
everything is taken down by a recorder. After an intro-
duction in the usual way, stating the fact that these seven
or eight bills are up for discussion or hearing, then the
discussion begins. This is a public hearing; anybody can
come and present information or evidence for or against the
various bills. The committee would like to hear it. About
that_time Mr. Fannin, the senator from Arizona, walked in,
and sat down. The others on the committee are [Peter]
Dominick and the two Kennedy brothers, interestingly.
TUSLER: Oh, they're both on it.

WARREN: They're both on it. They didn't show up yester-
day, although they appeared on the House's side of Mr.
Teague's hearing on that bill in favor of it.

TUSLER: Is Mr. Teague a Democrat?

WARREN: Yes.

TUSLER: And Senator Yarborough?

WARREN: He's a Democrat also. Usually they're lined up.
The Labor and Public Welfare Committee has Senator [Lister]
Hill, chairman; Senator Yarborough, chairman of the small

committee and a couple of other subcommittees; and the two
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Kennedys; and then there's one other Democrat in on it, who
was not considered to be important by Mr. Mandel, so I
didn't put his name down--although they have his vote. He's
going to rubber stamp. Then on the Republican side, there
are Senators Jacob Javits, [Winston] Prouty, Dominick,
[George] Murphy from California, and Mr. Fannin. I took
Senator Murphy's room number and phone number down, but I
didn't get a chance to go down there. I haven't met him
yet; so I don't know how effective he might be one way or
another.

The veterans staff reported their position on the
various laws and stated their agreement with the Teague
Bill, the Yarborough Bill, and the Permission Bill that
had been put together, giving the VA permission. It wasn't
authored solely by anybody. It apparently had been created
as a result of conferences between the VA and the staff and
two or three other people like myself who had come in.

Then there was one bill authorizing the payment of $100,000
in the research budget to work on spinal-cord injuries.

There were two paraplegic gentlemen there in wheel-
chairs—--World War II veterans--and Mayor [F. V.] Wallace and his
two companions, who were there in Washington to worry about
the closing of the air base in Amarillo. They came when I
tipped them off to be here at the hearing. There were maybe
a dozen other people whom I didn't know in the room. There

also were the Veterans Administration people--Dr. [H. Martin]
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Engle, chief of medicine; Dr. Benjamin Wells, his assistant
chief of medicine; and their legislative officer (I've
forgotten what his name is, but he's a controller, too).
Anyway, their testimony took about an hour. They had
questions from Mr. Fannin, who put in a lot of press items
that were, from his standpoint, derogatory. This turned
out to be a good thing, because then Dr. Engle and Dr.
Wells could say, yes, these hospitals are not properly
equipped and funded to be useful to the local medical
schools. We have not had any budget for those hospitals;
but in this year, for the first time, we have gotten $50
million more, and we expect to improve them. We haven't
got enough to do this. He could say this, you see, but
he couldn't say our budget has been cut; but he could say,
we have had an increase, and we will attempt to get these
improvements. He thanked Mr. Fannin for his interest and
hoped this interest continued because this meant that he
would watch the budget. Mr. Fannin kind of committed him-
self not to cut the budget, which was the Republican posi-
tion, you see. And, of course, Mr. Fannin had a grin on
his face. He knew what was happening, and he was being
kind of a party to it.

They asked the blunt question, "Has your budget been
cut?" And Dr. Engle hesitated and said, "Do you know I've
only been in office since the first of January? I was not

here when the budget hearings occurred. But," he said, "I
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do know that we have an increased budget this year, a
fairly healthy amount, the first time in a long time,

and I appreciate this." And then he went on. You see,
everything they have said was cleared by their own adminis-
trator, Mr. W. J. Driver, and it also was cleared with the
White House.

You see, they're just like a department in the uni-
versity: they couldn't make statements about their budget
if they were up before the legislature. Only the president
and the regents are, from the administrative standpoint,
really in a position to say things about the budget. Now,
many men do take that risk and speak out.

In the hearings of the Department of Health, Education,
and Welfare, Dr. [James A.] Shannon, who runs the National
Institutes of Health, has, by experience, been backed so
often by Senator Hill and this same general committee on
appropriations for that department, and by Mr. [John]
Fogarty, Mr. [Oren] Harris, and Mr. [Wilbur] Mills on
the House side, and the key committees of the House, that
he has dared in the last five years, every year, to com-
plain about the cuts in his budget, and they have restored
them. Now each year he gets on a little more delicate ice,
you see, because if the president happened to be mad about
this, he would lose his position. They couldn't fire him
because he has civil service (he's a commissioned officer),

but he could be transferred.
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TUSLER: Yes, just moved out of the way.
WARREN: Yes, transferred upstairs, in Alaska or Hawaii or
someplace. [laughter] He could suddenly get a foreign tour
of duty.

The hearing went very smoothly and the paraplegics made
a nice impression. They were informed that more money than
what they were asking for was already being spent--it was a
very difficult problem--and if they could find any researchers
who came up with a new idea, to please let the administration
know, because they would see that they got support. This
means that I'm going to suggest to Dr. Leonard Marmor,
who's working upstairs here on the transplantation of nerves
and the regrowth of nerves that have been severed in acci-
dents and cuts, that he might get some more support for his
work. This is the advantage of going to Washington: you
get a lot of tips and information about where additional
support may come.
TUSLER: Yes, only with that personal contact can it happen.
WARREN: Yes, you know what they're thinking. However, you
can't say, "I'll come in next week with a proposal." It
takes much more than that. You have not only to have the
idea, but you must get your organization lined up to create
a program and budget and to get permission through university
channels to apply for it. All this takes four, five, six
months--sometimes longer--and then it has to go through the

granting agencies--the National Institutes of Health, the
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National Science Foundation, the AEC, the Veterans, etc.
They have their own committees, procedures, and schedules.
Actually, if I asked for money in March 1966 to support a
program, I probably couldn't get it until July 1967 because
it has to go through these procedures. The request has to
be in by September. Then it has to go before a council
and study section, or at least it has to have a site visit
in October or November, then go to a big council meeting

in December or January. It is then that you get the money
for it or you don't. This is why I'm broke: I wasn't on
the site in the right time. I couldn't get it started, but
they might not have given me the money anyway. There's
always that problem.

To return to the hearing, along about twelve o'clock
everybody cleared out except Mayor Wallace from Amarillo
and Dr. Elmer Belt, who had come in to witness the hearings,
and myself. Senator Yarborough said that he had cancelled
his luncheon engagement to finish the hearings today, asked
if there were any of us who wanted to testify. He invited
Mayor Wallace and me to come and sit at the microphone, and
so we did. As the mayor had to go rather soon, and also
because I thought it would be an advantage if he made his
statement first, I suggested that he be heard first. He
gave a very compact, clear statement of Amarillo's desire
to have a medical school and the resources they had for it,

and hoped that this legislation would pass so that this
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would be possible. Then he thanked Mr. Yarborough for his
courtesy and said that he would leave it to me to £fill in
details.

I had to state right away that I had been a consultant
to them, but that I was appearing as an individual, a vice-
chancellor emeritus, and I could speak with some experience--
seventeen years of it in fact--in workiﬁg with the Veterans
Administration hospitals. I could state categorically‘that
without their help we would not have been able to get the
UCLA medical school really launched as soon or as well. I
said that I appreciated their help very much and also that
I could point out that it took seventeen years to build the
UCLA medical céenter and that it wasn't through yet. It
would take another two or three years to finish the con-
struction. By that time the state and others would have
spent about $90 million. Fifteen new medical centers like
UCLA were named in the president's health plan and committed
to go ahead now. They couldn't deliver many trained new
students before 1970--this was '66. A lot of these centers
were going to have problems in funding. I had a thought
that maybe there was another way to do it, and that both
methods ought to be done. With population increases we
couldn't provide enough if everything that I suggested
plus the other fifteen medical centers were built. I was
proposing that many small medical schools be developed.

Then I said I had written a report while I was still
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special assistant, and I would now request permission to
put it in the record. He said, "By all means, let's have

it for the record." So I got that in. Then I summarized
the requirements and stopped. By this time it was a quarter
after twelve, and I said, "I think I don't want to presume
any more of your time." He said that was the first time
that he had heard about the small medical school idea. I
said, "It is unusual, and it will probably meet considerable
resistance at first, but I think that this is a very useful
concept. If a little town grows, it will have had experi-
ence. It will know what it will cost to get a bigger school
building, and it will not have much to throw away. If you
build a oné-story thirty-year-life building out of concrete
and glass and so on, in ten, twenty, or thirty years, if you
wish to, you can tear it down, you can remodel it, or you
can abandon it, and you haven't lost a great deal. In con-
trast, if you build one of these skyscrapers, it costs al-
most as much to revamp it as it does to rebuild it."
[laughter] To tear it down costs an awful lot of money.

The only thing that saved that little [University] Religious
Conference building over there is the fact that it's going
to cost about $50,000 to tear it down.

TUSLER: Just to tear it down?

WARREN: Yes, it's concrete. [laughter]

TUSLER: What is it being used for now?

WARREN: Well, [the School of] Dentistry is moving out,
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and I guess [the School of] Public Health is moving in,
because their building will start now. I£ willhbe three
years before they can get in, and they need more space
than they can get in the Home Economics Building.

Well, to finish this up now, the senator will, as he
said, work with his staff and some of the people in the
Veterans Administration. He also invited me to come as
an individual to help them put together some wording in
a composite bill amending the Teague Bill, and then this
will all be presented in executive hearings to their own °
committee and then be referred to Senator Hill. The
senator will review the.hearings, and if he is satisfied,
then in executive session it will go through the whole
roster of the Committee on Labor and Welfare and be pre-
sented to the floor and voted on and then referred to the
Conference Committee of the House. If the Conference
Committee of the House accepts the amendments, the House
is asked to pass the bill with the amendments. If it's
acceptable to their committee and to the Conference
Committee, it goes through pro forma.

TUSLER: So there doesn't have to be a big presentation

of it?

WARREN: All that formality's gone. This is a very nice

way to have things go. Now, if there had been a big con-
troversy from some others like the AMA, or if the Association

of American Medical Colleges had come in and said
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"?his is rank socialism; we can't have it. This is ter-
rible; this'll spoil medical practice; this will hamper
medical care and the VA"--then the reporters make a big
play about the opposition, and then anything like this
comes to a halt.

TUSLER: Has the AMA taken any interest in all of this?
WARREN: Yes, they were sampled by Mr. Teague, and the
AMA's position and that of the deans' organization is that
it is permissible to let the VA undertake education. But
you see my little medical school idea didn't get in that
part of the deal. It only creeps in here in the hearing.
I hate to disclose the machinations. It never became a
part of the principle that education is something that
the VA ought to undertake, and I only suggested it as a
refinement and suggested that a couple of pilot areas be
set up, like Amarillo and Boise. Being now in the record
of the hearings, these are guidelines for the VA, since
there was no dissent; and if none transpires, the bills
will progress through the Congress.

Now there's no money available. The VA can probably
squeeze out $100,000--$50,000 for each place--to do a
little planning to get the drawings together. But these
places have got to get a dean or a director of the new
program. I'll have to get on the phone this afternoon
to check with them to be sure they're going right ahead.

Boise has already employed Dr. Raymond White from the
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American Hospital Association, and he comes on April 1.
He was in Washington yesterday, and I just missed him by
a hair's breadth. He left Dr. Engle's office just as I
went around to the VA to bid Dr. Engle good-bye and con-
gratulate him on a nice performance.

I think there'll be cooperation with the small medical
schools by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare
through Wilbur Cohen. They've got construction money that
requires matching. They've got training money, research
grants, and a lot of things. 1In fact, these small schools
could be built with not much more than $100,000 of local
money. They would need about $3 million for buildings if
the VA or local hospital had no space for the basic sciences
and the library. The local college can't put up anything;
it has no budget and no resources, especially the ones in
Boise, which are private.

Now, I also had good luck the night before last, which
pleases me very much. Dr. Raymond Allen and I had dinner
together. He had just taken Dr. Elmer Belt to meet some
Leonardo da Vinci scholars. We sat talking in the Cosmos
Club lobby, and in came Dr. Joe [Joseph B.] Platt, who is
president of Harvey Mudd College. He is an old Rochesterian
friend, and well indoctrinated into the problems of medical
school financing because he was on the Committee on Higher
Education that Governor [Edmund G.] Brown appointed some years

back. He had come to my rescue several times on budget
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and other problems.

We wanted to know what he was doing there in Washington,
D.C., and he wanted to know what we were doing. 0Of course,
Ray Allen lives there now and is the research director of
the Pan-American Health Organization. But Joe was in to
advise the President's Scientific Advisory Committee of
the President's Committee on Communication and Information
of the Office of Science and Technology. Dr. [Donald F.]
Hornig is the director. We got talking about the com-
puterizing of the library, and I promised to send him my
proposals on the national library system. Then he wanted
to know what I was doing, so I brought up the idea of small
medical schools, and I added that he was one of the few
people in the country who had kept his student body down
to a proper relationship with the faculty. He had kept
his organization small, and I would like to see somebody
with his determination and his kind of a board take on a
small medical school and keep it within the resources of
their organization. I said, "Would you be interested in
taking over the San Fernando VA, which they are willing
to put in the 'pot,' and work out a contract with the
Veterans Administration for support and other things?

The supervisors for the medical education could be at
Olive View, just about a mile away. This would give you
the acute hospital and the chronic hospital and the site

and buildings. I think the VA would remodel and set you
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up in business, with equipment and staff and everything

if you would supervise it." Ray Allen chimed in and said,
"Yes, how about a humanistic medical school? Have it

heavy on sociology, anthropology, psychology--not psychiatry
necessarily--but the whole human being in his environment.
This is lacking in medical schools." We all agreed it'was;
Joe Platt got quite excited. He promised to read my
material and then maybe come over and have a luncheon.

‘Last night, getting off the plane, there was Joe
getting off the same plane. He had a student with him,
and I asked h%m if he was premed. "No," he said. He was
going into math or something. As we walked down towards
the discharge of the baggage, Joe Platt said, "You know,

I was interested in your conversation. Do you really
think that this might be done? How much money would it
take?"

I said, "I'll advise these two places--Amarillo and
Boise--to collect $3 million for an endowment so that when
the present personalities disappear, there's still the
endowment in trust which would give approximately $100,000
a year. First, with the income, hire a dean. And then
gradually, as they get the dean's salary on some stable
budget, use the endowment income for contingencies and
for over-scale salaries and things of this sort. But this
could be the focal point, the strength, the private enter-

prise part. He said, "If you couldn'f get the $3 million,
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what you're talking about is $100,000 a year for x number
of years." And I said yes. "Well," he said, "that's not
too impractical." So I said, "Well, you're willing to
talk." And he said, "Yes." Now, if I can pull that off
right here, I could watch it develop and help now and
then. You see, the trouble is that the University of
California, or at least the state of California, has got
to build resources to put out a hundred more doctors about
every five years. Now, if they do it the way I've had to
do it, and the way San Diego is going to do it, the pattern
of a big state institution with a large mass of students--
2,400 or more students of all kinds in the medical center--
then you've got a great big factory costing about $100
million, and a large research budget. This is like a
General Motors production. Now if you keep it custom-
built, you don't need such a big investment, and then you
can have lots of them, wherever there's the resource. Now
in California--there's Fresno, which hasn't been touched
yet; Long Beach, because it has that big VA hospital down
there, a state college in its backyard, and the Memorial
Hospital just a half a mile away. We've got a lot of
places in this state where this could be done on a small
scale. Then as the population increases and the resources
and experience increase, then it it could be made bigger.
TUSLER: Would this make it cheaper for the student himself?

WARREN: I don't think this will change, unless somebody
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is willing to put up the extra money for the student. 1In
fact, as I think I showed you on the chart in the other
room, our first cost per student per year at the thirty-
two-student level was nearly $12,000 a year. The big
factory will bring it down to $7,500. Stanford and USC,

T think, cannot get below $9,000. I predict that we can't
do much better than $11,000 or $12,000 in Boise and Amarillo.
But you get a lot of goodies for that, too; you get service
to patients and you get nurses and others trained who then
go out into the community. They cost the same amount,
though this is an average figure.

TUSLER: Where is this $3 million that will constitute the
endowment fund going to come from?

WARREN: From local people. They already have $2 million
in Amarillo in just a month.

TUSLER: Just by tapping the--

WARREN: Yes, they just collected $5 million from the High
Plains Baptist Hospital and were donated the 400 acres,
essentially, right next door to the VA. They have a common
fence line right on the outskirts of Amarillo. After I
talked to them a bit, they are now raising $2 million to
put the laboratories and other things in the hospital and
will make some changes that a subsequent study indicated
they needed in order to improve the design: They're now
facing a $7 million hospital construction, and have all

the money pledged, plus the $2 million pledged towards
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the $3 million endowment which the Amarillo Foundation has.
The interest from that will be donated each year by con-
tract to the West Texas State University, which is in
Canyon, fourteen miles or fifteen minutes away, where
they now have 7,000 students, a fair premed curriculum,
and a beginning graduate division, as well as the Kilgore
Research Institute, which is physics and chemistry. So
they're well started, and with this $100,000, or whatever
is needed, the Amarillo Foundation will give the West
Texas University enough to start. Now, the question is:
do they ask the state for any money, or don't they? It
can almost all be done with no state money, which would
be a triumph. However, it makes the federal contribution
very high.

TUSLER: What is the advantage of not asking the state for
money?

WARREN: Well, there's a political advantage right now,
because the state has three medical schools, San Antonio
being the last. Just last week they got the money to
build the laboratories for the medical school, $9 million
from the state and I think $20 million from the federal
government. Senator Yarborough said he was going down
there next week to the inauguration, when they were going
to lay the cornerstone. Almost ten years ago, I was a
consultant down there to the site, and you see the long

time it takes.
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Now, Texas is in a funny situation; their taxing pro-
cedure. is very inadequate and inefficient. So in spite of
its large population and ité great wealth, the state govern-
ment is on its uppers most of the time. Do you know how
their state capitol was built? They made a deal with a
British corporation. They gave them about a million acres
of land, and the corporation came in and built the capitol
building, so that no bonds were required. Now, how they
had thelauthority to give the land away, I don't know,
but it was done. That's why so much of the land right
down through the center of Texas is held by outside people
and foreign capital. These are all contiguous, touching
groups--townships--just all lined up down the map. But
you see, by doihg it this way, they didn't establish any
precedents or find any need to create laws to raise the
money properly.

But now when you have a big need for building schools
and institutions, it's difficult. They are out of the
habit, and there's no more land left to make the trade--
or I guess there isn't any. And all kinds of conniving
goes on. [laughter] This is part of the reason why there
is so much conniving, because it's easy to do.

TUSLER: Didvthe money come largely from single individuals
who were very wealthy?
WARREN: Yes, big gas holdings. [Mary E.] Bivins gave a chil-

dren's psychiatric building for the new medical center; I
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think it was $2 million. She also built the library in
the little town. It's not much to look at but it was
built four or five years ago when she got her first gas
well. Prior to the finding of gas, you could have bought
that land for maybe five dollars an acre. If you stand up
on the hood of your car, you can see well beyond twenty-
eight miles, the curvature of the earth. It's just flat,
high plains, The wind blows all the time. [laughter]
Once in a while there's a riverbed and a canyon from the
erosion, some of which are very beautiful. 1It's in one

of these, just fourteen or fifteen miles out of Canyon

or Amarillo, where they have found the three-toed horse.
They have found a big boneyard of 50-million-year-old
animals. That's why they have a nice little archaeological
museum at the university and a very strong geology depart-
ment.

TUSLER: Amarillo is up in the panhandle, isn't it?
WARREN: Yes, it's northwest Texas, and then going south
is Lubbock, and then you go south and west quite a ways

until you hit El Paso.
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TAPE NUMBER: I, SIDE TWO

MARCH 31, 1966

TUSLER: Dr. Warren, I believe this morning you have some
things to say on the subject of the development of mental
health clinics in the state of California.
WARREN: That's right, I think we can take up this subject,
along with that of mental retardation. They're intertwined
a great deal in the-way they developed here in California,
and of course the same personnel are involved. Our busi-
ness in the medical school is to train professional per-
sonnel in the health sciences.

When I arrived here in 1947, there was in existence
a mental hygiene society and a mental hygiene association.
Mrs. Warren and I joined both of these, for it was our
custom to join all of the movements in the community that
had some relationship to the health science field. The
reason was partly to get acquainted with people in the
community who were interested in these fields, but also
partly to gain and build up the political support for
the medical school's development in these areas. It was
quite obvious in the beginning that the medical school
could not get adequate funds for construction and operating
budgets if we depended entirely upon the university adminis-
tration to provide these things. The amounts of money

required and the size of the operation was never clear
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in the minds of either the regents or the administration.
Perhaps even President Sproul didn't realize what he was
taking on, although by this time he had a pretty clear
picture of the ultimate size of the medical school in San
Francisco and others around the country. There were similar
health associations and societies in other parts of Southern
California. There was a strong one in Pasadena. And, of
course, San Diego had one, and [so did] Fresno and San
Francisco.

TUSLER: Who were the sponsors of these organizations?
WARREN: These were all private associations, nonprofit,
dues-paying, politically oriented associations. The
American Cancer Society is a similar one. There are
probably forty or fifty different disciplines represented
in these associations and societies in the country. All
of them originate around some dedicated person, usually

a former woman patient. She may come from an experience
in Parent-Teacher [Association] or League of Women Voters
and wants to do something for the community. They may get
the bylaws from the national organization and set up a
local program. I think if you could punch Mrs. Warren
when she was asleep and ask her what the constitution

and bylaws are, [laughter] she could almost tell you
chapter and verse for any of these societies and associ-
ations. This is particularly true for the volunteers

here at UCLA. She has written maybe fifteen or twenty
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constitutions and bylaws for local associations, in the
county and metropolitan area. . .
TUSLER: How did she get into that?
WARREN: She's a League of Women Voters graduate from
Rochester, New York, and of the Cub Scouts and Boy Scouts
and all these PTA things. These are wonderful training
relationships for the young married woman who gradually
gets more and more chance to get out in the community.
There was, for some little time, a schism between
these two Los Angeles mental health associations and
societies. Both were trying to play the most important
role in the community aﬁd to enroll as members the major-
ity of the interested people. I forget the names--but as
we go to the files, I can probably furnish them--of the
doctors and the prime movers and the women and the men who
furnished the muscle in these organizations. Eventually,
of course they began to think about fostering research
and improving training and facilities in the community.
About this same time, around 1952 or '53, the
national institutes were organized, including one for
mental health. Drs. [Robert H.] Felix and [Seymour D.]
Vestermark were the leaders in that organization at the federal
level. They had a great influence in the developments
all around the country, and set the political groundwork
that was to support the total program.

TUSLER: Were they the faculty here?
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WARREN: No, they were federal employees in the Public
Health Service, career men, but both psychiatrists. Dr.
Vestermark has since died, and Dr. Felix has gone to be
dean of the George Washington University medical school

in St. Louis. Now, in 1947 there was enough momentum in
the state and enough complaint about the mental health
department's program that Governor Earl Warren organized
a.mass meeting in the spring of 1948. The chairman of

this was Lee DuBridge. Members of the staff of the

state Department of Mental Hygiene did the organizing.

This was extremely well done, covering all of the disci-
plines concerned with the diagnosis, treatment, and care

of the mentally ill. The department staff was very much
ahead of the department's program. They were well oriented
and therefore modern in their point of view, but Mrs. Dora
Heffner, the director, and her medical chief, Dr. [Lawrence]
Kolb were unable to get the support of the legislature in
building the required hospitals.

Part of the trouble was that they were thinking at
that time, and for several years thereafter, of 5,000-bed
mental health installations, costing in the neighborhood
at that time of $18 [million] to $20 million apiece. It
became apparent that there was such a large backlog of
patients that were waiting to be admitted that it would
be necessary to build one of these almost every year,

which would be quite a load on the taxpayer. The
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governor used this huge financial investment--the building
costs and care problems--as a reason for holding this mass
meeting.

TUSLER: Who was the governor at this time?

WARREN: Earl Warren.

TUSLER: Did he support the program himself, aside from
the problems involved? |

WARREN: He knew that this was a bad situation, and he
wanted something done; but being an astute politician,

he wanted the consensus of the leaders in the state

behind him before he went forward with expensive con-
struction and other plans. Three hundred people came.
This was almost all of those invited; many were not in-
vited. They came at theif own expense and spent two and

a half days in Sacramento. This was in the spring, I
think about April. They were all divided up into sec-
tions and were very active. There was a lot of discussion,
and everybody had something to say.

TUSLER: You were there?

WARREN: I was there, and I was on the committee that
dealt with personnel problems; being a medical school
dean, training was one of the elements that I was sup-
posed to be interested in, which I was. We dealt with
such things as the reason for lack of personnel at the
attendant level and at the nurse level and, of course,

the shortage of psychiatrists.
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We therefore soon got into the salary levels, because
they were very low. Our section recommended that salaries
be increased in keeping with the salaries in other parts
of the state in private mental institutions and educational
institutions and that training programs be set up. The
Department of Mental Hygiene up to this time had had no
training program to speak of. This was frowned upon by
the legislative auditor, of whom I will speak a little
later.

This meeting resulted in a great many recommendations,
and Mrs. Heffner, who was a political appointee, felt that
she couldn't carry out these recommendations, so she re-
signed. The governor then made a committee of the three
deans of the medical schools, and we chose Dr. [Frank F.]
Tallman, who is now on our faculty, to be the new director
of the state Department of Mental Hygiene. Dr. Tallman
came in with the promise of the governor's complete sup-
port in reorganizing the department and modernizing it.

In order to make this stick, the governor appointed
a citizens' advisory committee, which is still in exis-
tence. This had the medical deans, many of the presidents
of the smaller universities, and gquite a number of
psychiatrists. There were people like Arthur Will, who
was then county manager of Los Angeles. He had come up
through the ranks over a long period and was a very fine

and dynamic person. Judge W. Turney Fox was chairman
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for many years, and then Judge William Neeley. I think
I can find the roster. 1It's worth recording, too, be-
cause this has been forgotten, more or less.

The director of the department met with this com-
mittee at monthly intervals, preparing an agenda, answering
questions, taking the recommendations back to the governor,
who could reflect them in his budget and his requests to
the legislature. The committee did not report to the
director but to the governor, so that this was an impor-
tant element in its influence.

I can remember going to sit with Dr. Tallman in the
hearings of his budget. One of the first things that he
wanted was an increase in the food budget. He was told
by Mr; [A. Alan] Post that these people were helpless,
so why feed ﬁhem and prolong their lives? All Dr. Tallman
was asking was a budget sufficient to get food in amounts
equal to that fed to inmates of the penitentiary. This
was just a perfectly cold-blooded fiscal approach, and
the overt intent was to have these people die as early
as possible. I say this without any hesitation, because
Mr. Post is still there and is using the same derogatory
tactics against the development of the medical school in
San Diego. He used the same arguments against me, and
he hasn't changed his attitude one bit.

TUSLER: What is his official position?

WARREN: He is the legislative auditor, employed by the
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legislature to be the devil's advocate to knock down and
destroy the arguments of those proposing an increase in
budget. But the man has gotten so habitually conditioned
that he sometimes does not have any humane approach. Al-
though he is a fine, upstanding citizen in his own right,
he is the ogre in the otherwise fairyland of life.
[laughter] That's not a very good simile.

Dr. Tallman was in the state system for about four
years. Then he came to join our faculty, after he had
reorganized the department and gotten it on a good basis..

About a year after I arrived here, when I was sitting
in the temporary buildings, I had an appointment with a
Mrs. Edna Reiss and a representative of Mrs. [Bennet]
Davis. They were organizing the Reiss-Davis Clinic,
which officially got off in 1950, but they were in my
office before this, trying to find out how to get going,
where to locate, and whether some help could be gained
from the new medical school.

At that time we had no students, we didn't have an
assured program yet, but we did have this piece of property
called at that time the C and H Tract (we'd just got this
from the Veterans Administration), so the three of us
talked a great deal about the possibilities of their
raising funds to build a children's psychiatric clinic
on this piece of land.

In 1950 they hired Dr. Rocco L. Motto as their
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director, and he is still their director. He's a psychia-
trist. We could not respond. I had great trouble in
getting the regents, and even the president, to agree to
initiating these minor elements that could support the
program of the medical school. They were very much afraid
of these expansions, particularly Dr. [Howard C.] Naffziger,
who later became a regent.
TUSLER: What form would those expansions ﬁave taken in
the actual facilities or in the courses?
WARREN: They would have built a building here on the
tract, and, jointly, we would have appointed their staff
on our teaching program. They would have picked up the
service costs and the handling of the children. We would
have picked up the educational costs, or if they were well
enough off to do so, they might pay the whole thing, al-
though we would get appointments to the staff.

I forget the location of the first program; it was
in rented quarters. They then went to some more rented
quarters on Vermont Avenue about eight or nine years ago,
at which time we had active discussions about their coming
here, but we fell out over their philosophy, I guess you
could say, of their approach. They wanted to be completely
free to do rather bizarre experimental work with untrained
people.

There are lots of lay practitioners in these fields

who have no college training. Some of them have been
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very successful in dealing with excited children. These
people were taken into the Reiss-Davis. We could not put
them on our faculty. Their doctors felt that they could
not abandon these people. They had great loyalty to them
because they had worked through the hard years, but they
were doing things that were unsubstantiated and unpublished.
We finally decided, or agreed without any prejudice,
that we would appoint those members of their staff that had
the proper qualifications to join our teaching staff; and
that we would send some students and residents to them.
They would not insist that all their staff be on our staff.
This is not now an officially affiliated institution.
Later--I'm not quite accurate about the date, but
somewhere in thé neighborhood of 1958--we moved out of
the Marion Davies Clinic and moved the program into the
medical center. The Department of Pediatrics had used
that; I'll talk about that at some other time. The Reiss-
Davis board then purchased the Marion Davies property from
the university. 1It's down on Mississippi [Avenue] just above
Olympic; it comprises about two acres there. They have
gradually developed greater and greater strength through
their board and donations from a lot of private individuals,
and they havé started to do some research. In fact, Dr.
Bernice Eiduson has been working on the computerization
of psychiatric hisfory. I have been very much interested

in that. When I went to Washington, she came in, and I
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tried to get that funded by the National Institute of
Mental Health. They weren't convinced that she could do
it until last year, and so she lost about four years in
progress. But, in the meantime, she has improved the
approach so much that she told me the week before last
that she now felt very confident that she could get in
simple language a psychiatric-history-taking program for
the computer. She's got a two-year grant now, a fairly
good sized one, which will get her on the road.

I was invited to return to the board of Reiss-Davis,
which I accepted as one of the few [outside responsibilities]
that I'm taking on in my return to the university. They
asked me to speak the night before last--March 29--before
their first annual dinner. I can submit for the record
that the agenda made a very interesting meeting. They
had the black-tie affair in the Beverly Hilton Hotel in
a big room. There were about 900 who must have paid
twenty or twenty-five dollars apiece, which meant quite
a sum for the clinic.

Milton Berle was the master of ceremonies and Art
Linkletter was there. Mr. [Robert L.] Feldman is the
president of the board, and they have quite a powerhouse
now in the board. If they can keep up these annual dinners
and keep this same group in Los Angeles supporting them,
they will do all right.

TUSLER: Do Mr. Berle and Mr. Linkletter have a particular
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interest in this field?
WARREN: Linkletter, you know, has been interviewing chil-
dren on the radio for many, many years, and he has adopted
children from other nations--a Philippine boy, and I guess
a Vietnam girl, a Japanese, and a German, and a French
child--I think six. In his radio program he runs across
excited and disturbed children, so he's gotten interested
in this. He's a very fine man in his community relation-
ships. I don't know what Mr. Berle's personal contact with
this is, other than the fact that he's community-minded.-
Of course, a lot of the artists and actors.and actresses
are. They're emotionally sensitive, and they understand
these things better than many other people do. Some of
them, of course, have problems themselves and are familiar
with psychiatric programs.

It turned out very well. I claimed equal time. I
was given twenty minutes, and the rest of the program .
added up to twenty-one. These men all went over; they
each one had a minute, as you can see by the program.
[laughter] As usual, the Reiss-Davis board awarded
plaques of commendation for donations or for work by
some person in organizing or funding a new program, oOr
actually working in the clinic. They honored a gentleman
who worked for the Peace Corps, and Joe P. Maldonado,
executive director of Economic and Youth Opportunities

Agency of Greater Los Angeles. This latter is the group
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from which a lot of disturbed children come, and this man
was very active in getting these children referred to the
clinic.

Now they've raised enough money and been able to get
some matching [funds] from the federal government from the
National Institute of Mental Health, so that they're going
to open a kind of a day school for agitated schoolchildren.
They will have some rooming-in facilities, but most of the
program will be daytime, where they'll actually have a
classroom situation but organized in such a way as to calm
the child down, to try to get at the problems that bother
him and to learn why he is frustrated. 1Is he the kind of
child that has a very high IQ, where he's been so far ahead
of his own age group that he gets bored, and then he takes
it out in pinching Josie and pulling ears and just raising
the devil all the time? [laughter] Or is he retarded and
so on?

Now, let me go back a bit. I pointed out that Dr.
Tallman returned to the Department [of Mental Hygiene] as
director in 1949. 1In 1953, our medical school program got
along far enough so that we began to organize a department
of psychiatry. We appointed Dr. [Norman] Brill as the
chairman of the Department of Psychiatry, and then he and
I, for the next five years, had a bitter fight with the
regents (chiefly Dr. Naffziger), on the role of psychiatry

in the medical school. This is what it really amounted to.
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Dr. Naffziger's opposition to the design of our program
was aided and abetted by some of the regehts, chiefly Mr.
[Edward A.] Dickson, who felt that psychiatry did not
belong on the campus.

You have to remember that Mr. Dickson was a reporter
in his younger days in Stockton. Stockton had an insane
asylum of the old type. He was in and out of that insti-
tution in his early days and saw the attendants beat in-
mates. Inmates were actually chained because they were
so violent, and they were so destructive that they couldn't
have linens, so they bedded them on straw. They used hoses
to clean the cells. This was just a primitive insane-asylum
type of thing.

Of course, Mr. Dickson visualized that sort of insti-
tution on campus, and some of his friends among the faculty
women were worried about the fact that these insane people
would break out and go up and down sorority row or run
naked into Bullock's and all this. You can imagine the
problems that this brought up in explaining modern
psychiatry, where we were not going to have bars on the
windows, and where we were not going to have locked wards.
All of the things that he worried about, he thought we
apparently were ignoring and overlooking, and yet we said
we'd take any referred patient, no matter how violent or
what the problem was. But we did not want cases assigned

by the court.
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We wanted to do what they had done tentatively and
partially in San Francisco. We wanted to join hands with
the state department. In San Francisco, the medical school

and the state department had joined hands, and the Langley
.Porter Clinic was built by the state department just across
an alley at the Parnassus site. Dr. [Karl M.] Bowman was
both professor of psychiatry and superintendent of that
unit, and so we wanted the same thing. But it took us
five years to hammer out a contract that the regents
would accept. Finally it was achieved, and the state
department asked for the money and transferred it to

the regents, who then designed and built the NPI, the
Neuropsychiatric Institute, here.

TUSLER: What year was this?

WARREN: In May 1958 the contract was signed, and then it
took a year to get the drawings approved. 1In the meantime
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